2008

# Timothy Michael & Tamra McQueen Hutter, husband & wife v DIG-IT : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to review this matter resulting in this appeal pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78A-4-103(2)(j) (2008). These issues were addressed in the trial court.

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

#### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE HUTTERS FILED A NOTICE OF COMMENCEMENT ON MAY 30, 2006.**

##### **Standard of Review**

The question of whether the Hutters filed a Notice of Commencement is a mixed question of law and fact. To determine the standard of review for a mixed question of law and fact, appellate courts “apply a test that considers (1) the complexity of the facts; (2) the degree to which the lower court relied on observable facts that cannot be adequately reflected in the record, such as witness demeanor and appearance; and (3) any policy reasons favoring or disfavoring the exercise of discretion.” Mandell v. Auditing Div. of Utah State Tax Com’n, 186 P.3d 335, 339 (Utah 2008).

##### **Preservation for Appeal**

This issue was preserved for appeal by being addressed in Dig-It’s Memorandum in Opposition to the Hutters’ Petition for Nullification of Wrongful Lien [R. 27-28], and in oral argument following the Evidentiary Hearing on October 30, 2007 [Transcript, Ex. A, pp. 96-99].

**II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE HUTTERS SATISFIED THE BURDEN OF PROOF FOR ESTABLISHING THE FILING OF A VALID NOTICE OF COMMENCEMENT.**

**Standard of Review**

“In a bench trial, the determination of whether a plaintiff has proven his or her case by a preponderance of the evidence is a legal determination reviewed for correctness.” Handy v. U.S. Bank, Nat. Ass’n, 177 P.3d 80, 84 (Utah Ct. App. 2008).

**Preservation for Appeal**

This issued was preserved for appeal by being address in Dig-It’s Memorandum in Opposition to the Hutters’ Petition for Nullification of Wrongful Lien [R. 22-29], and in oral argument following the Evidentiary Hearing on October 30, 2007 [Transcript, Ex. A, pp. 89-101].

**III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT DIG-IT’S MECHANICS’ LIEN WAS A WRONGFUL LIEN UNDER SECTION 38-9A-102.**

**Standard of Review**

The determination of whether a document is a Wrongful Lien under Utah Code Ann. § 38-9a-102 is a question of law which the Court of Appeals will review for correctness, affording the trial court no deference. Eldridge v. Farnsworth, 166 P.3d 639, 646 (Utah Ct. App. 2007).

**Preservation for Appeal**

This issued was preserved for appeal by being address in Dig-Its Memorandum in Opposition to the Hutters’ Petition of Nullification of Wrongful Lien [R. 29-33], and in

oral argument following the Evidentiary Hearing on October 30, 2007 [Transcript, Ex. A, pp. 101-107].

## **STATUTES DETERMINATIVE ON APPEAL**

### **I. UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-31 (2007).**

- (1)(a)(i)(A) For a construction project where a building permit is issued to an original contractor or owner-builder, within 15 days after the issuance of the building permit:
- (I) the local government entity issuing that building permit shall input the building permit application and transmit the building permit information to the database electronically by way of the Internet or computer modem or by any other means; and
  - (II) the original contractor or owner-builder may file a notice of commencement based on the building permit issued by the local government entity.
- (B) The information submitted under Subsection (1)(a)(i)(A) forms the basis of a notice of commencement.
- (ii) The person to whom a building permit, filed under Subsection (1)(a)(i), is issued is responsible for the accuracy of the information in the building permit.
  - (iii) For the purposes of classifying a record under Title 63, Chapter 2, Government Records Access and Management Act, building permit information transmitted from a local governmental entity to the database shall be classified in the database by the division notwithstanding the local governmental entity's classification of the building permit information.
- (b) Within 15 days after commencement of physical construction work at the project site, the original contractor or owner-builder may file a notice of commencement with the database whether or not a building permit is issued or a notice of commencement is filed under Subsection (1)(a).
- (c) An owner of construction or an original contractor may file a notice of commencement with the designated agent within the time prescribed by Subsections (1)(a) and (b).
- (d)(i) If duplicate notices of commencement are filed, they shall be combined into one notice for each project and any notices filed relate back to the date of the earliest-filed notice of commencement for the project.
- (ii) A duplicate notice of commencement that is untimely filed relates back under Subsection (1)(d)(i) if the earlier filed notice of commencement is timely filed.
  - (iii) Duplicate notices of commencement shall be automatically linked by the designated agent.
- (e) The designated agent shall assign each construction project a unique project number that:
- (i) identifies each construction project; and
  - (ii) can be associated with all notices of commencement, preliminary notices, and notices

of completion.

(f) A notice of commencement is effective only as to any labor, service, equipment, and material furnished to the construction project that is furnished subsequent to the filing of the notice of commencement.

(2)(a) A notice of commencement shall include the following:

(i) the name and address of the owner of the project;

(ii) the name and address of the:

(A) original contractor; and

(B) surety providing any payment bond for the project, or if none exists, a statement that a payment bond was not required for the work being performed; and

(iii)(A) the project address if the project can be reasonably identified by an address; or

(B) the name and general description of the location of the project if the project cannot be reasonably identified by an address.

(b) A notice of commencement may include:

(i) a general description of the project; or

(ii) the lot or parcel number, and any subdivision, development, or other project name, of the real property upon which the project is to be constructed if the project is subject to mechanics' liens.

(c) A notice of commencement need not include all of the items listed in Subsection (2)(a) if:

(i) a building permit is issued for the project; and

(ii) all items listed in Subsection (2)(a) that are available on the building permit are included in the notice of commencement.

(3) If a notice of commencement for a construction project is not filed within the time set forth in (1)(a) and (b), the following do not apply:

(a) Section 38-1-32; and

(b) Section 38-1-33.

(4)(a) Unless a person indicates to the division or designated agent that the person does not wish to receive a notice under this section, electronic notice of the filing of a notice of commencement or alternate notice as prescribed in Subsection (1), shall be provided to:

(i) all persons who have filed notices of commencement for the project; and

(ii) all interested persons who have requested notices concerning the project.

(b)(i) A person to whom notice is required under Subsection (4)(a) is responsible for:

(A) providing an e-mail address, mailing address, or telefax number to which a notice required by Subsection (4)(a) is to be sent; and

(B) the accuracy of any e-mail address, mailing address, or telefax number to which notice is to be sent.

(ii) The designated agent fulfills the notice requirement of Subsection (4)(a) when it sends the notice to the e-mail address, mailing address, or telefax number provided to the

designated agent whether or not the notice is actually received.

(5)(a) The burden is upon any person seeking to enforce a notice of commencement to verify the accuracy of information in the notice of commencement and prove that the notice of commencement is filed timely and meets all of the requirements in this section.

(b) A substantial inaccuracy in a notice of commencement renders the notice of commencement unenforceable.

(c) A person filing a notice of commencement by alternate filing is responsible for verifying and changing any incorrect information in the notice of commencement before the expiration of the time period during which the notice is required to be filed.

(6) At the time a building permit is obtained, each original contractor shall conspicuously post at the project site a copy of the building permit obtained for the project.

## **II. UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-9a-102 (2005).**

As used in this chapter, “wrongful lien” refers to a lien made in violation of Section 76-6-503.5, and includes an instrument or document as defined in Section 38-9-1.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **I. NATURE OF THE CASE.**

This case presents two questions of first impression to Utah Appellate Courts: 1) whether the mere presence of building permit information in the State Construction Registry constitutes a notice of commencement despite the evidentiary burden set forth in UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-31(5)(a); and 2) whether the lack of a preliminary notice converts a mechanics’ lien into a wrongful lien as defined in UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-9a-102.

In this case, certain building permit information was faxed to the State Construction Registry by Weber County in May, 2006. That information was displayed in the State Construction Registry and made available for searching and the filing of preliminary notices by potential lien claimants. The building permit information did not

include the city, state, or zip code of the owner, and the owners did not search and make any corrections to the permit information until March, 2007.

Dig-It did not search the State Construction Registry or file a preliminary notice. When a dispute arose between the owner and the builder, and the builder failed to pay Dig-It, Dig-It filed a mechanics' lien to secure its collection rights and commenced foreclosure of that lien. As a defense to Dig-It's lien, the Hutters claimed that despite their indifference to the State Construction Registry requirements for timely and accurately filing notices of commencement, the building permit information submitted to the State Construction Registry by Weber County was a valid and enforceable notice of commencement which placed an affirmative obligation on Dig-It to preserve its lien rights by filing a timely and accurate preliminary notice. According to the Hutters, Dig-It's failure to file a preliminary notice voided its right to file a mechanics' lien, so the Hutters were entitled to have the lien enjoined under Utah's Wrongful Lien Injunction Statute, UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-9a-101, *et. seq.*

## **II. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS.**

1. The proceeding was commenced on August 1, 2007, when Petitioners filed their Petition for Nullification of Dig-It's Mechanics Lien [R. 1-5].
2. Prior to the filing of the Petition, Dig-It filed an action to commence the foreclosure of its lien in the matter entitled Dig-It, Inc. v. Tim and Tami Hutter, *et.al.*, Case No. 070904567, Utah State Second District Court, Weber County, Ogden Department, State of Utah.

3. On September 10, 2007, Dig-It, Inc. filed its Memorandum in Opposition to Hutters' Petition for Wrongful Lien [R. 22-34].
4. On October 30, 2007, an Evidentiary Hearing was held before Honorable Ernie W. Jones, Utah State Second District Court, Weber County, Ogden Department [R. 109-10].
5. On November 13, 2007, the trial court entered its Memorandum Decision granting the Petition for Nullification of Dig-It's Mechanics Lien [R. 111-15].
6. On December 24, 2007, the Court entered its Final Order [R. 122-24].
7. On January 15, 2008, Dig-It, Inc. filed its Notice of Appeal [R. 125-27].

### **III. DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW.**

On December 24, 2007, the trial court entered its Final Order concluding the mechanics' lien filed by Dig-It was a Wrongful Lien and nullifying the lien pursuant to the Wrongful Lien Injunction Statute, UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-9a-101, *et. seq.* Based upon a stipulation of the parties, the separate foreclosure action, Case No. 070904567 has been stayed pending the resolution of this matter.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. Appellant, Dig-It, Inc., (hereinafter "Dig-It"), is an excavation contractor who performed work on property owned by Appelles [R. 111, ¶ 1].
2. Appellees, Timothy Michael and Tamra McQueen Hutter, (collectively hereinafter "Hutters"), are the owners of certain real property located in Weber County, State of Utah, and more particularly described as follows [R. 9]:

ALL OF LOT 53, ELKHORN SUBDIVISION PHASE 3, WEBER COUNTY,  
UTAH.



3. On or about May 22, 2006, a building permit was issued to Jeromy's Homes for construction of the Hutter's residence. [Transcript, Ex. A, p. 10, l. 19; R. 112, ¶15]. A copy of the permit is attached as Ex. B.
4. Thereafter, on May 26, 2006, the Weber County Building Department faxed a copy of the building permit to Utah Interactive, and the information in that permit was converted to a data file and then uploaded into the Utah State Construction Registry. [Transcript, Ex. A, p. 13, l. 5 to p. 15, l. 7; R. 112, ¶15].
5. From May 30, 2006 to March 2007, neither Jeromy's Homes nor the Hutter's took any action to review the building permit information submitted to the State Construction Registry by Weber County. [Transcript, Ex. A, p. 52, l. 2 to p. 53, l. 25].
6. In March 2007, the Hutter's fired Jeromy's Homes and took over the construction of their home as a general contractor. [Transcript, Ex. A, pp. 44-45, 50].
7. In March 2007, after the Hutter's fired Jeromy's Homes, the Hutter's logged into the State Construction Registry and submitted information, including an email address, and paid \$7.00 for the filing of a notice of commencement. [Transcript, Ex. A, pp. 50-56].
8. After concluding its work on the property, Dig-It was not paid by Jeromy's Homes for the work completed. [Transcript, Ex. A, pp. 60-62].
9. As a result of non-payment, Dig-It filed a lien against the property in the office of the Weber County Recorder on June 6, 2007, as Entry 2269167. [R. 111, ¶ 2; R. 1]. A copy of the lien is attached as Ex. C.

10. Dig-It never filed a preliminary notice in the State Construction Registry. [R. 112, ¶¶ 6&7].

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

#### **I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE HUTTERS FILED A NOTICE OF COMMENCEMENT ON MAY 30, 2006.**

In nullifying Dig-It's mechanics' lien, the trial court concluded that the Hutters filed a notice of commencement on May 30, 2006, and that Dig-It was therefore precluded from holding a valid lien due to Dig-It's failure to file a preliminary notice. However, no evidence was presented that a notice of commencement was filed by the Hutters on May 30, 2006, or by anyone else with authority to file a notice of commencement in their behalf.

Furthermore, a preliminary notice is not necessary to hold a valid lien when a notice of commencement has not been filed. *See* UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-31(3) (2007). Accordingly, the trial court erred in nullifying Dig-It's mechanics' lien because the Hutters failed to prove that a notice of commencement was filed on May 30, 2006.

#### **II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE HUTTERS MET THEIR BURDEN TO PROVE THAT THEY WERE ENTITLED TO ENFORCE THE PROPOSED NOTICE OF COMMENCEMENT.**

The Utah Legislature has provided that “[t]he burden is upon any person seeking to enforce a notice of commencement to verify the accuracy of information in the notice of commencement and prove that the notice of commencement is filed timely and meets all of the requirements in this section.” UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-31(5)(a) (2007). In this

case, the Hutters failed to provide any evidence that they timely verified the accuracy of the information contained in the proposed notice of commencement or that the proposed notice of commencement was timely filed and met all of the requirements of UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-31.

To the contrary, the evidence demonstrates that the Hutters did not meet any of the burdens imposed by UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-31(5)(a). Consequently, the trial court erred in nullifying Dig-It's mechanics' lien because a preliminary notice did not need to be filed in light of the Hutters' failure to meet their burden to prove that they could enforce the proposed notice of commencement.

### **III. THE MECHANICS' LIEN FILED BY DIG-IT PURSUANT TO UTAH'S MECHANICS' LIEN ACT WAS NOT A WRONGFUL LIEN.**

Under the Wrongful Lien Injunction Statute, a "wrongful lien" is defined as "a lien made in violation of Section 76-6-503.5, and includes an instrument or document as defined in Section 38-9-1. UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-9a-102 (2005). Dig-It's mechanics' lien was not made in violation of UTAH CODE ANN. § 76-6-503.5 and does not fall within the definition of a wrongful lien under UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-9-1. Thus, the trial court erred by applying Utah's Wrongful Lien Injunction Statute to nullify Dig-It's mechanics' lien.

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE HUTTERS FILED A NOTICE OF COMMENCEMENT ON MAY 30, 2006.**

The filing date of a notice of commencement is a mixed question of law and fact. To determine the standard of review for a mixed question of law and fact, appellate courts “apply a test that considers (1) the complexity of the facts; (2) the degree to which the lower court relied on observable facts that cannot be adequately reflected in the record, such as witness demeanor and appearance; and (3) any policy reasons favoring or disfavoring the exercise of discretion.” Mandell v. Auditing Div. of Utah State Tax Com’n, 186 P.3d 335, 339 (Utah 2008).

As the following review will show, this is not a factually complex matter, nor is there a dispute over the veracity of testimony from witnesses. Instead, the questions of when and who filed the notice of commencement mix various factual information, i.e. the dates information was filed in the State Construction Registry and the source of that information; with questions of law, namely the legal conclusion of when the notice of commencement was filed and who filed, as required by UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-31(1).

The trial court should be granted discretion, as the fact-finder, concerning the sufficiency of the evidence to determine who filed what information on which date, but the conclusion as to the date that the notice of commencement was filed is a question of law to be reviewed for correctness. Questions about the legal adequacy of findings of fact and the conclusions of the trial court present questions of law which are to be

reviewed for correctness. Kendall Insurance, Inc. v. R&R Group, Inc., --- P.3d ---, 2008 WL 2446052 (Utah Ct. App 2008).

**A. The Evidence was Insufficient to Support a Finding that the Hutter's Filed a Notice of Commencement on May 30, 2006.**

A preliminary notice is not necessary to hold a valid lien unless a notice of commencement is filed. UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-31(3) (2007). Conversely, when a valid notice of commencement has been filed, a potential lien claimant must file a preliminary notice in order to preserve the right to hold a valid lien. UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-32(1)(d)(i)(A) (2007). In nullifying Dig-It's mechanics' lien, the trial court found that the Hutters filed a notice of commencement on May 30, 2006 [R. 113, ¶ 21], and that Dig-It was therefore precluded from holding a valid lien due to Dig-It's failure to file a preliminary notice [R. 113, ¶¶ 35-36].

To successfully challenge such findings, "an appellant must first marshal all the evidence supporting the finding[s] and then demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the findings even in viewing it in the light most favorable to the court below. Burton Lumber & Hardware Co. v. Graham, 186 P.3d 1012, ¶12 (Utah Ct. App. 2008). In fulfillment of that burden, Dig-It presents the following exhaustive list of evidence from which the Court could conclude a person filed the notice of commencement asserted in this matter:

1. Craig Brown, Weber County Building Inspection testified:
  - a. Weber County issued a building permit for the Hutter's residence on May 22, 2006. [Transcript, Ex. A, p. 10, ll.14-19].
  - b. Weber County faxes its building permits to the State Construction Registry about once a week. [Transcript, Ex. A, p. 11, ll. 4-15]

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