2008

# Timothy Michael and Tamara McQueen Hutter v. DIT-IT, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

### **Introduction**

In 2004 the Utah legislature passed House Bill 136. This new set of laws became effective in 2005 and substantially changed how mechanic's liens operate in this state. Foremost, this new legislation created the State Construction Registry, an internet

accessible and searchable database designed to be a repository for activities occurring on all construction projects across the state.

As part of these sweeping changes, the new law provides that “a subcontractor shall file a preliminary notice with the database . . . [and] if a person who is required to file a preliminary notice under this chapter fails to file the preliminary notice, that person may not hold a valid lien under this chapter.” Utah Code Ann. §38-1-32(1)(a)(i), (d)(i)(A) (2006) (emphasis added). At the same time, another component of this new legislation, section 38-1-31, states that “if a notice of commencement for a construction project is not filed . . . the following do not apply: (a) Section 38-1-32. . . .” *Id.* §38-1-31(3)(a) (emphasis added). Therefore, under the new mechanic’s lien regimen if a notice of commencement is filed on a construction project, subcontractors and suppliers must file preliminary notices or they are prohibited from recording mechanic’s liens. A notice of commencement was filed for the construction of the Hutters’ home. Dig-It did not file a preliminary notice but nevertheless recorded a mechanic’s lien. Dig-It argues in this appeal that it was entitled to record a mechanic’s lien on the Hutters’ home because the notice of commencement is not enforceable. The Hutters respond to each of Dig-It’s arguments as outlined below.

**I. A Notice of Commencement was Filed for the Construction of the Hutters’ Home.**

Dig-It argues that the notice of commencement was not filed properly because it was filed by Weber County, the building permit issuing municipality, and not the Hutters or their

general contractor. This argument is not correct because Dig-It relies on amendments made to the statute after events in this case occurred to read requirements into the statute that do not exist.

**II. The Notice of Commencement is Enforceable Because It is Accurate, Timely Filed and Met All of the Statute's Requirements.**

A. Dig-It first argues that the Hutters were required to verify the accuracy of the information in the notice of commencement within a specified period of time. Again, Dig-It presents policy based arguments attempting to add requirements to the statute that do not exist. In the trial before Judge Jones the information in the notice of commencement was verified as accurate.

B. Dig-It argues that the timeliness of the notice of commencement's filing was not proved at trial. There was substantial and uncontroverted evidence establishing that the notice of commencement was filed well within the 15 day statutory period. An agency rule relied upon by Dig-It does not apply to the municipalities filing notices of commencement because they are not charged a fee for these filings.

C. Dig-It argues that the omission of the city, state and zip code from the Hutters' address on the notice of commencement rendered the notice of commencement unenforceable. This argument is not correct because there is a safe harbor provision in the statute that the notice of commencement falls within. This safe harbor provision states that the notice of commencement need only include the information that is on the building permit, which it does. Also the statute provides that only a substantial inaccuracy in the information on the notice of commencement will render the notice of



commencement unenforceable. The court correctly found that this omission was not substantial.

**III. Dig-It's Lien is a Wrongful Lien as Defined by the Utah Wrongful Lien Injunction Act.**

Dig-It argues that its mechanic's lien is not wrongful because it is not covered by the definition of a wrongful lien in the Utah Wrongful Lien Injunction Act and at the time it's mechanic's lien was filed, the Hutters had yet to prove that they had an enforceable notice of commencement. Dig-It's mechanic's lien falls within the definition of a wrongful lien because its mechanic's lien is expressly prohibited by section 38-1-32. Further, the allocation of the burden to prove the enforceability of the notice of commencement does not suspend its effectiveness and allow subcontractors to record mechanic's liens in violation of law's clear mandate.

**ARGUMENTS**

**I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT A NOTICE OF COMMENCEMENT WAS FILED FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE HUTTERS' HOME.**

The evidence introduced at trial established that Weber County transmitted the Hutters' building permit to the State Construction Registry which then posted this information to its database as a notice of commencement. Dig-It argues that a notice of commencement can only be filed by the Hutters or their general contractor. [Dig-It Brief at 15-17]. However, Dig-It attempts to add this requirement to the statute based on changes that were made to the law after the events in this suit occurred.

**A. The 2006 Version of Section 38-1-31 is Applicable to This Case, Not the 2007 Amendments.**

Section 38-1-31 specifies the manner in which notices of commencement are to be filed. It was originally passed into law in 2004 and was scheduled to take effect in May 2005. Utah Code Ann. §38-1-31(2004). During the 2005 legislative session, minor changes were made to this section including suspending the effective date of the law for residential construction to November 1, 2005. *See, Id.* §38-1-37 (2005). During the 2006 legislative session, a few additional minor changes were made to the statute, and these changes became effective on May 1, 2006. *Id.* §38-1-31 (2006). The version of the statute relied upon by Dig-It in this appeal is the product of more significant changes that were made to section 38-1-31 during the 2007 legislative session. These changes went into effect on April 30, 2007. *Id.* §38-1-31 (2007).

As established during the trial of this case, the building permit for the Hutterers' home was issued on May 22, 2006. [Statement of Fact 2]. The notice of commencement for the Hutterers' home was filed on May 30, 2006. [Statement of Facts 3, 4]. Dig-It performed all of its work on the Hutterers' home between June 5, 2006 and October 20, 2006. [Statement of Fact 16]. The last possible day that Dig-It could have filed a preliminary notice to cover any of its work performed on the Hutterers' home would have been October 14, 2006. *See, Utah Code Ann.* §38-1-32(1)(b) (preliminary notice filed beyond 20 day period effective for work performed five days after filing). Accordingly, all of the events that are material to this suit occurred prior to the 2007 legislative session and prior to any changes made to section 38-1-31 becoming effective.

The amendments made to section 38-1-31 in 2007 should not be applied to this suit retroactively. Section 68-3-3 of the Utah Code expressly provides “no part of these revised statutes are retroactive, unless expressly so declared.” *Id.* §68-3-3. The Utah Supreme Court has consistently applied this requirement: “A statute is not to be applied retroactively unless the statute expressly declares that it operates retroactively.” *Goebel v. Salt Lake City S. R.R. Co.*, 2004 UT 80, ¶39, 104 P.3d 1185. Furthermore, “[a]s a general rule, amendments to statutes are not retroactive.” *National Park and Conservation Assoc. v. Board of State Lands*, 869 P.2d 909, 912 (Utah 1993). There is no express declaration in section 38-1-31 or in the 2007 amendments that they should be applied retroactively. In certain narrow exceptions statutory amendments can be applied retroactively. *Brown & Root Indus. Serv. v. Industrial Comm. of Utah*, 947 P.2d 671, 675 (Utah 1997) (noting exception to rule against retroactive application of statutory amendments is narrow). This exception is only for procedural changes that do not enlarge, eliminate, destroy or affect substantive rights. *Id.*; *Johansen v. Johansen*, 2002 UT App. 75, ¶5; 45 P.3d 520. Dig-It argues that the 2007 amendments place an affirmative duty on homeowners and general contractors to file notices of commencement where no such duty existed before when notices of commencement were filed by the municipalities. Accordingly, the 2007 amendments to section 38-1-31 directly affect the substantive rights of the parties. They are not merely procedural amendments and should have no application to this case.

**B. The 2006 Statute Requires Municipalities to File the Notices of Commencement When Building Permits are Issued for Construction Projects.**

The pertinent provisions of section 38-1-31 provide as follows:

(1)(a)(i) For a construction project where a building permit is issued to an original contractor or owner-builder, within 15 days after issuance of the building permit, the local government entity issuing that building permit shall input the building permit application and transmit the building permit information to the database electronically by way of the Internet or computer modem or by any other means and such information shall form the basis of a notice of commencement.

\* \* \*

(b) For a construction project where a building permit is not issued, within 15 days after commencement of physical construction work at the project site, the original contractor or owner-builder may file a notice of commencement with the database.

Utah Code Ann. §38-1-31 (2006) (emphasis added). According to the statute there are two scenarios in which notices of commencement are filed. The first is for projects where a building permit is issued and the second is for projects where a building permit is not issued. For projects where building permits are issued, the statute requires the permit issuing municipality to transmit the building permit information to the State Construction Registry where that information will become the notice of commencement when it is posted to the database. There is no provision for an owner or general contractor to file a notice of commencement when a building permit is issued.<sup>1</sup> Instead, this burden is

---

<sup>1</sup> Subparagraph (1)(c) provides a homeowner and a general contractor with general discretion to file a notice of commencement: “An owner of construction or an original contractor may file a notice of commencement with the designated agent within the time prescribed by Subsection (1)(a) and (b).” *Id.* (emphasis added). However, neither person is required to make such a filing.

placed on the municipalities. In fact, the Division of Occupation and Professional Licensing, (“DOPL”), the agency responsible for the operation of the State Construction Registry, *see* Utah Code Ann. §38-1-27(2)(b), expressly prohibits the municipalities from shifting the burden of filing notices of commencement to the general contractor or owner when a building permit is issued:

(2) Persons Who Must File Notices [of Commencement]. In accordance with Subsections 38-1-31(1)(a) and (b), the following are required to file a notice of commencement:

(a) For a construction project where a building permit is issued, within 15 days after the issuance of the building permit, the local government entity issuing that building permit shall input the data and transmit the building permit information to the database electronically or by alternate method and such building permit information shall form the basis of a notice of commencement. The local government entity may not transfer this responsibility to the person who is issued or is to be issued the building permit.

Utah Admin. Code, R156-38b-501. (emphasis added).

In the second scenario, where a building permit is not issued, the statute provides that the general contractor or an owner-builder may file a notice of commencement, Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-31(1)(b), and DOPL requires the general contractor to file the notice of commencement: “For a construction project where a building permit is not issued, within 15 days after commencement of physical construction work at the project cite, the original contractor shall file a notice of commencement with the SCR.” Utah Admin. Code, R156-38b-501. (emphasis added). Thus, on projects where building permits are issued, the municipalities are required to transmit the building permit information to the State Construction Registry to become a notice of commencement, and on projects where building permits are not issued, this burden falls to the general contractor.

There was no dispute in the district court that a building permit was issued for the Hutters' home. [Statement of Fact 2; Trial Exhibit 1 in Appendix at Tab 1]. Accordingly, subparagraph (1)(b) of section 38-1-31 does not apply. Instead, the municipality is required to transmit the building permit information to the State Construction Registry for the notice of commencement to be filed.

Dig-It relies on the 2007 changes to the statute to insist that there are "only two groups that are authorized to *file* a notice of commencement based on that building permit information: original contractors and owner-builders." [Dig-It Brief at 16 (emphasis in original)]. However, the version of the statute that was effective and applicable to this suit does not contain any such restriction. To the contrary, the 2006 version of the law only requires the permit issuing municipalities to file the building permit information with the State Construction Registry, and this Court should not draft the requirements advocated by Dig-It into this legislation. *Stephens v. Bonneville Travel, Inc.*, 935 P.2d 518, 522 (Utah 1997) ("Our duty is to implement the law as it reads unless it results in an absurd outcome."); *Reedeker v. Salisbury*, 952 P.2d 577, 585 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (court has no power to rewrite statute).

**C. The Intent of the Legislature Is That the Building Permit Information Posted to the State Construction Registry Is the Notice of Commencement.**

The primary goal of interpreting and applying a statute is to give effect to the legislature's intent. *Progressive Cas. Ins. Co. v. Ewart*, 2007 UT 52, ¶16, 167 P.3d 1011. In this instance the legislature's intent is expressed by the plain meaning of the language in section 38-1-31. In situations where building permits are issued, the building

permit information is to be transferred from the permit issuing municipality to the State Construction Registry. This information forms the notice of commencement when it is posted on the State Construction Registry's database. The language of section 38-1-31 does not support Dig-It's argument that an owner or a general contractor must make a separate or duplicate filing to create a notice of commencement.

In the unlikely event that the Court finds this paragraph of section 38-1-31 ambiguous or unclear, the Hutters encourage the Court to view the evidence of the legislature's intent contained in the legislative history of this statute to aid its interpretation and application of the statute. *Martinez v. Media-Paymaster Plus/Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints*, 2007 UT 42, ¶47, 164 P.3d 384 (court may look beyond statute to legislative history to ascertain intent if statute is ambiguous). In particular, House Bill 136 was presented to the House Business & Labor Committee by Representative Michael Morley, its sponsor, on February 13, 2004. Minutes of House Business and Labor Standing Committee, February 13, 2004, available at <http://www.le.state.ut.us/~2004/minutes/HBUS0213.pdf>. During the hearing on the bill Representative Stephen Clark and Representative Morley had the following exchange:

Rep. Clark: "Who files the commencement notice?"

Rep. Morley: "In the case that there is a building permit, the permitting agency will convey that information."

Rep. Clark: "That would be the cities and counties?"

Rep. Morley: "the cities and counties."

Rep. Clark: "They're willing to do this?"

Rep. Morley: “. . . yes, they are reluctantly willing to do this.”

Hearing on H.B. 136 Before House Bus. and Labor Comm., 2004 Gen. Session, February 13, 2004, Audio Tape 1, Side 2 at min. counter 2.4-3.0. Similarly, when House Bill 136 was introduced in the Senate Judiciary, Law Enforcement and Criminal Justice Committee, Representative Morley explained to the members of that committee that “upon receipt of a building permit the permitting agency would either fax or convey the information to a central repository. That would constitute a notice of commencement on the project.” Hearing on H.B. 136 Before Senate Judiciary, Law Enforcement, and Criminal Justice Comm., 2004 Gen. Session, February 25, 2004, Audio Tape at counter 571 – 586; minutes available at <http://le.utah.gov/asp/interim/Commit.asp?Year=2004&Com=SSTJLC>.

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